Netflix makes K-content go global

Understanding the dynamics of SVOD platforms in Korean content production

Student Name: Yveline Lee Student Number: 667837

Supervisor: dr. Michael Wayne

Master Media Studies - Media & Creative Industries Erasmus School of History, Culture and Communication Erasmus University Rotterdam

Master's Thesis *June 2023*

Word Count: 14.100

NETFLIX MAKES K-CONTENT GO GLOBAL: UNDERSTANDING THE DYNAMICS OF SVOD PLATFORMS IN KOREAN CONTENT PRODUCTION

ABSTRACT

With the increasing amount of subscription video-on-demand (SVOD) platforms, strategies of SVOD platforms continue to disrupt traditional television practices. In particular, SVOD platforms have been engaging in original programming to distinguish themselves from other SVOD platforms. As Netflix is the first SVOD platform to go global, studies have been conducted to understand the relationship between Netflix and the specific national markets to gain an understanding of Netflix's strategies in transnational context. This gives insights into how global corporations such as Netflix operate in national television markets and what the articulations of local creatives are about emerging global SVOD platforms.

As the presence of Netflix is increasing in Korean content production and more global SVOD platforms are entering the Korean content production market, the aim of this thesis is to provide a better understanding of SVOD platform practices and discourses in the Korean television industry. This is why the proposed research questions are: what are the discourses on Netflix in Korean content production? What are the production practices of Netflix in Korea? What are the production practices of local SVOD platforms?

In order to answer these research questions, publicly available online news articles, official press releases and trade press coverage discussing Netflix's involvement in Korean content production and production practices of local SVOD platforms are used for analysis. The analysis is a practice and discourse analysis, followed from media industry studies approach. The analysis revealed the following main themes: development of Netflix in Korean content production, working with Netflix, Netflix contributing to the local creative ecosystem, recognition for Korean content, local efforts for Korean content to go global, and concerns and future prospects.

The findings reveal that SVOD platforms form strategic partnerships in order to strengthen production capabilities. Despite having creative freedom while working with Netflix, Netflix controls and manages the whole process of production. As concerns grow among local SVOD platforms about their positioning in the SVOD platform industry, Netflix is showing that they are no threat to the local creative ecosystem but are contributing to the local creative ecosystem instead. Whereas Netflix is making efforts to increase their presence in the local market, local SVOD platforms aim to go global and are utilizing similar strategies as Netflix.

 $\underline{KEYWORDS:}\ \textit{Netflix, subscription video-on-demand, transnationalization, Korea, production practices}$

Table of Contents

Abstract and keywords

1. Introduction	4
2. Theoretical Framework	7
2.1. SVOD platforms in the television industry	
2.2. Television industry in transnational context	8
2.3. Global SVOD platforms in national markets	
2.4. The Korean television market	
2.4. Korean SVOD platforms	
2.4. Global SVOD platforms in Korea	
3. Method	
3.1. Media industry studies approach	16
3.2. Data collection	
3.3. Data analysis	
4. Results	
4.1. Development of Netflix in Korean content production	
4.2. Working with Netflix	
4.3. Netflix contributing to the local creative ecosystem	
4.4. Recognition for Korean content	
4.5. Local efforts for Korean content to go global	
4.6. Concerns and future prospects	
5. Conclusion	
References	39

1. Introduction

Since the post-network era of the television industry, there is an ongoing discussion about the development of subscription video-on-demand (SVOD) platforms and how these SVOD platforms reshape the television industry. Technological innovation and economic changes are what differentiates SVOD platforms from traditional television practices (Lotz, 2017). For instance, economically, SVOD platforms have different business models than television networks to distribute content and digitization allows SVOD platforms to distribute content ondemand and are therefore no longer restricted by distribution windows of television broadcasting networks (Havens and Lotz, 2017). Furthermore, the emergence of SVOD platforms leads to 'cord-cutting' behavior of consumers, meaning that media consumers will cancel traditional television and choose to subscribe to SVOD platforms instead (Burroughs, 2019). Because of these different SVOD platform practices, as opposed to traditional television practices, there is an ongoing discussion amongst media industry scholars about the meaning of these different practices on the traditional television industry. While SVOD platforms could be threatening the traditional television industry (Burroughs, 2019), SVOD platforms also appears as a new phenomenon which co-exist with traditional television practices and therefore do not suggest the end of television (Wayne, 2020, p. 153). To add to this discussion of SVOD platform practices reshaping the television industry, the aim of this thesis is to add knowledge to existing research by analyzing and understanding SVOD platforms with regard to production practices within a transnational context.

In particular, the strategies of SVOD platform Netflix have been a dominant topic as it was the first SVOD platform to disrupt the traditional television industry (Robinson, 2017). Researchers have been examining Netflix's industry practices concerning its different approach in organization, distribution, and branding (Jenner, 2018; Lobato, 2019; Buck, 2019). Furthermore, Netflix engaging in original programming in addition to distributing content leads to different practices as well, compared to television practices. For example, Netflix, as a streaming service is setting itself apart from traditional television through advertising strategies and discourses (Tryon, 2015). Especially after Netflix starts producing original content, Netflix introduces binge viewing as a new practice of television viewing and uses it to brand their content as quality TV. To encourage the practice of binge-watching, Netflix releases their series all at once, in order for consumers to watch all the episodes at once, opposed to traditional television series which are distributed on a weekly basis. This practice of binge-watching encourages participation of the consumers with the media content (Burroughs, 2019). However,

binge-watching can be a passive practice too, as the attentiveness of viewers vary depending on the content (Steiner and Xu, 2020).

As SVOD platforms continue to go global, scholars have been paying attention to the developments of SVOD platforms in global television from a transnational context (Shimpach, 2020; Jin, 2020). Lotz (2021) argues that multinational SVOD platforms are changing the dynamics of transnational video distribution. A strategy Netflix has been utilizing is mass customization (Havens and Lotz, 2017, p. 17), which in Netflix's case is to distribute local contents to appeal to various national markets. In addition to distributing local content, Netflix commissions and produces a significant amount of content outside the United States as well (Lotz, 2021). Netflix has been heavily investing in producing original local content, especially in South Korea (hereafter Korea) (Netflix, 2019a; Netflix, 2019b). Although other global SVOD platforms besides Netflix are also starting to engage in Korean content production such as Disney+, through partnerships with Korean corporations (Na, 2022; Song, 2021). Netflix was the first global SVOD platform to enter the Korean market and remains the prominent global SVOD platform involved in Korean content production. Furthermore, Netflix established a separate content office in Korea, the first country in Asia to have one (B. W. Kim, 2020), and announced the establishment of two production facilities in Korea (Netflix, 2021). This is why this thesis is mainly focused on Netflix's practices and discourse on Korean content production.

In the meantime, as global SVOD platforms are trying to gain a foothold in the Korean television market, local corporations are establishing domestic SVOD platforms, for example TVing, established by media & entertainment conglomerate CJ ENM, Wavve, run by broadcast stations KBS, SBS, MB and telecom operator SK Telecom, and independent SVOD platform Watcha. Domestic SVOD platforms are likewise engaging in original content production to differentiate themselves by providing exclusive content as opposed to other SVOD platforms.

For these reasons, it is relevant to study the dynamics between global SVOD platforms and the local television market; how global corporations such as Netflix operate in national television markets and what the articulations of local creatives are about emerging global SVOD platforms. Thus, in a broader media industry context, this research aims to provide a better understanding of SVOD platform practices and discourses in the television industry within a transnational context, in this case Korea. As the presence of Netflix is increasing in Korean content production and more global SVOD platforms are entering the Korean content production market as well, it brings new challenges and opportunities to the Korean television industry. Therefore, the aim of this thesis is to examine the relationship between global SVOD

platforms, particularly Netflix, and the Korean television market. This is why this research proposes the following research questions:

Main RQ: What are the discourses on Netflix in Korean content production?

Sub RQ1: What are the production practices of Netflix in Korea?

Sub RQ2: What are the production practices of local SVOD platforms?

Above research questions will be answered by analyzing official press releases, online and publicly available news articles, and trade press coverage that discusses Netflix's involvement in Korean content production and production practices of local SVOD platforms. The findings of the analysis will contribute to existing research by giving new insights in the presence of Netflix in the production of Korean content and revealing the dynamics between Netflix and local SVOD platforms in Korea regarding content production.

Following, the second chapter will discuss related research done on the topics: SVOD platforms in the television industry, the television industry in transnational context, global SVOD platforms in national markets and Korean SVOD platforms. The reason for discussing research on these topics is to provide a better understanding on these topics and to argue how this research aims to contributes to existing research. Next, the third chapter serves to explain the methodological approach, process of data collection, and the method of data analysis for this research. Then, the fourth chapter will discuss the results of the analyzed data in five themes: development of Netflix in Korean content production, working with Netflix, Netflix contributing to the local creative ecosystem, recognition for Korean content, local efforts for Korean content to go global and lastly, concerns and future prospects. Finally, the results will be concluded by answering the research questions and remarks on the limitations of this research and possible directions for further research.

2. Theoretical framework

The following chapter will first discuss previous research on SVOD platforms in the television industry and SVOD platforms in transnational context. This serves to explain the development of SVOD platforms and transnationalism within the television industry. Then, existing research on global SVOD platforms, in national markets will be discussed, which are all in relation to Netflix. Then, the Korean television market will be introduced to provide a short introduction will be given to Korean SVOD platforms to understand the industrial and cultural context of Korean SVOD platforms. Because of emerging global SVOD platforms in Korea, research on the presence of global SVOD platforms in Korea is increasing and will be discussed at last. These studies will serve as a basis to discuss the analysis later on in chapter 4.

2.1. SVOD platforms in the television industry

As briefly discussed in the introduction chapter, ever since the development of SVOD platforms, there have been numerous media studies research on this phenomenon and how it reshapes the television industry. This section serves to specifically discuss related research on changes in production practices and discourses of the streaming industry, in order to provide a better understanding of the industry context in relation to this research. Lotz (2014) notes the changes in the production process of television programs regarding creation, financing, and distribution and redefines the television industry in the United States. Key changes that Lotz (2014) identifies are new types of programming and different ways of organizing and branding content. By identifying production practices, it gives insight into the changing television industry and reveals new developments of emerging industry practices. Organizational norms are evolving as well. The organization of SVOD platforms is often characterized by work cultures described as 'creative freedom' (Navar-Gill, 2020). Although in the early stage of streaming platform production culture, Navar-Gill (2020) examined in 2017 whether there is a connection between the 'creative freedom' work culture and 'being data-driven', using interviews to analyze the discourse of writers. This research reveals that 'creative freedom' work culture can also lead to conflicts. Furthermore, the connection between 'creative freedom' work culture and 'being data-driven reveals the power imbalance between decision-making executives and creatives.

To gain an understanding of the discourses within the industry, Havens (2008) coined the concept of 'industry lore', which is defined by the ideas and assumptions among industry professionals about what kind of media culture and content audiences desire and what will be commercially successful. Industry workers follow these common ideas and assumptions within

the industry, in addition to organizational norms (Lotz, 2017). Building upon the concept of industry lore, Burroughs (2019) conceptualizes the theory of 'streaming lore', a reconstruction of industry lore. He explains that with the development and growing dominance of streaming industries in media industries, there is a need to attend to the emergence of streaming logics as a result of streaming technology and distribution. Furthermore, Burroughs notes the importance of further research on discourses and logics of the streaming industry (Burroughs, 2019, p. 15). For example, Smith (2018) compared content produced by Netflix and HBO in order to find common and differences in production practices, and Lotz (2019) examined the production practices on a meso-level, with the focus on shifting financial practices in the United States television industry before and after SVOD platforms, using Netflix as example. Both examples show the differences in production practices that SVOD platforms bring, on individual production and industry level. This is why this thesis will focus on both production practices and discourses of SVOD platforms in Korea. By identifying production practices of Netflix and local SVOD platforms, and examining articulations of local creatives, it will give insight into developments within the streaming industry and the current dynamics among SVOD platforms on individual and organizational level.

2.2. Television industry in transnational context

As media globalization is one of the dynamics of change within the media industries in the twenty-first century (Havens and Lotz, 2017, p. 15), scholars have been examining the television industry in transnational context. Van Keulen et al. (2020) discuss the transnationalization of production practices in TV production conglomerates, examining both practice and discourse, and argue that transnational network structures, strategies and management practices influence industrial practices and stimulate a transnational production culture. In addition to trade press articles and company statements, in-depth interviews were also utilized for analysis. Through the analysis on individual and organization level, this study gives insights into production practices within television production and the perspective of local managers (van Keulen et al., 2020, p. 754). In this competitive environment, the efforts of TV production conglomerates from the perspective of local managers, to stimulate a transnational production are evident. This sparks curiosity to the perspective of local workers and their perspective on the stimulation of a transnational production culture environment. Research on international production from the local perspective has also shown that despite U.S. media conglomerates dominating the television industry, local companies see international production as a positive experience. For example, local companies in Prague embrace international production and see working with Western productions as a way of learning in order to develop and strengthen their own local production system (Szcezepanik, 2007). Not only beneficial in terms of production practices but engaging in transnational production is also practical when it comes to funding. Mikos (2019) discusses transnational television on three levels. The first level consists of production and distribution of television including TV technology, economy, media policy, and legislation. The second level contains television texts and the third level includes television audiences. He traces the development of transnational television in these three levels and notes that the cultural and legislative context of international co-productions are crucial, especially in the starting phase of the production. SVOD platforms in the United States increased the production value of television series because they have been increasing the budgets (Mikos, 2019, p. 79). Thus, Mikos argues that engaging in international co-productions were a reason to gain a higher budget for television series.

After the global expansion of Netflix's service in 2016, launching its service in 130 more countries, Netflix takes the lead in SVOD platforms going global with Netflix operating its service in 243 countries (Netflix, 2016). However, not every content is available in every market because distributing rights are usually country-specific. From the perspective of Netflix, the rights are simply too costly or right holders do not want to license their content to Netflix (Aguiar and Waldfogel, 2018). With Netflix producing original content, Netflix holds the distribution rights in every market and will therefore be less dependent on others. With other SVOD platforms expanding their markets to overseas as well, SVOD platforms have an increasing presence in the global television industry.

The increasing presence of SVOD platforms across national borders leads to further research on how SVOD platforms are transforming the television industry in transnational context. In order for Netflix to become successful in national markets, Netflix invests heavily in localization strategies such as a country-specific library with more content suitable to local viewer's tastes and offering content in a variety of languages through dubbing and a variety of subtitles. Research on the distribution strategies of Netflix in transnational context shows that the presence of Netflix in local markets differs per national market, due to country-specific television market, regulations and policies and cultural norms (Lobato, 2019). Similarly, when looking at the wider cultural and industry dynamics of SVOD platforms on production practices in transnational context, the complexity and implications of global SVOD platforms entering the national markets becomes apparent. Netflix faces various challenges when competing in national markets, while local television networks are feeling threated by Netflix (Lobato and

Lotz, 2020). In the same way, Netflix has been competing with local SVOD platforms after entering the Korean market. Therefore, practices and discourses on Netflix will be examined to understand the strategies and involvement of Netflix specifically in the Korean market.

2.3. Global SVOD platforms in national markets

Conducting research on SVOD platforms in national markets often take Netflix as the object of analysis because it utilizes different distribution strategies, uncommon business model and disrupts the traditional strategies within the television industry and video distribution strategies through temporal and spatial windowing (Lobato and Lotz, 2020). In addition, taking Netflix as the object of analysis, is useful "for studying a wider set of cultural, commercial, and political responses to the entry of a foreign service into national media environments" Lobato and Lotz, 2020, p. 134).

The trend of SVOD platforms going global and the efforts of SVOD platforms to become successful in other territories led to further research on SVOD platforms within the media industry studies. Many researchers have examined the relationship between global SVOD platforms in national markets and the dynamics between these SVOD platforms in national markets (Nafees et al., 2019; Wayne, 2020; Tse, 2020) and across national markets (Wayne and Castro, 2021). Netflix believed that India would be a good market to focus on to expand their presence as it has a large population, with a young population who are digital savvy and who aspire to western lifestyles (Nafees et al., 2019). However, Netflix was challenged to grow and keep its number of subscribers because of the competitive SVOD platform market with the already well-established SVOD platform Hotstar. In Israel, the strategy of Netflix was to partner up with local television providers and utilizes this to promote their platform in the local market (Wayne, 2020). Furthermore, in a cross-national comparative research, Wayne and Castro (2021) examined the relationship between Netflix and national pay-television providers in Israel and Spain through formed partnerships to reveal the localization process of global SVOD platforms in these nations. Despite a different market, this study revealed that Netflix conducted a similar approach in both the Israeli and Spanish market. Tse (2020) exemplifies the importance in understanding cultural and industrial structures of a nation by comparing the discourse on the arrival of Netflix in two East Asian markets, Japan and Taiwan. With a lacking SVOD platform industry in Taiwan, the discourse on Netflix entering the local market was positive and was not viewed as threatening to the local SVOD platform industry. Co-productions between Netflix and Taiwanese production companies are even sees as valuable within the local media industry because it leads to the global spread of Taiwanese content through Netflix's distribution, but do not threaten the further development of the local industry due to local regulations (Tse, 2020). In Japan however, the discourse on Netflix's arrival in Japan mainly implied the threat of Netflix against local SVOD platforms because Japan already had a well-established local SVOD platform industry. Despite Netflix's efforts, it appears that Netflix is not posing a threat to the local market enough due to the availability of content on Netflix in Japan not being suitable to the taste of the Japanese audience (Tse, 2020).

The importance to conduct research on local studies of transnational media with the focus on SVOD platforms is demonstrated by Rios and Scarlata (2018) as they conducted a comparative study on Australian SVOD platform Stan and Mexican SVOD platform Blim. On an organizational-level, this study shows how competing with Netflix impacted local television production by analyzing two local SVOD platforms from different countries. But also within the local market, it is valuable to compare SVOD platforms on an organizational-level. For example, Castro and Cascajosa (2020) examined and compared the production culture of global SVOD platform Netflix with local SVOD platform Movistar+ in the Spanish market, showing how both a global SVOD platform and a local SVOD platform are expanding and transforming the local production culture.

Taking Netflix as main object of analysis, this research aims to understand the dynamics between Netflix in the Korean market. In a wider context, this research gives insights in the local discourses to the presence of Netflix in Korean content production. In addition, by examining practices of local SVOD platform TVing, this research aims to show how competing with Netflix impacts local SVOD platforms and what the presence of a global SVOD platform and a local SVOD platform means for the production culture in Korea.

2.4. The Korean television market

As one of the purposes of this study is to understand SVOD platforms in in the local context of Kora, this section will provide necessary knowledge on the Korean television market to understand the Korean television market when Netflix actively starts producing original content in Korea.

Since 1991, the Korean television market has been dominated by the three largest public broadcast television networks Korean Broadcasting System (KBS), Munhwa Broadcasting Corporation (MBC), and Seoul Broadcasting System (SBS) (S. Shim, 2008). After economic factors and measures of the Korean government in using Korean cultural products to promote Korea as a form of soft power, Korean television series, also named K-dramas were the cultural

product to initiate the phenomenon Korean Wave in the late 1990s (Schulze, 2013). The Korean Wave refers to the export of Korean cultural products and the growth of Korea's cultural industries. Although the Korean Wave was initially focused on K-dramas and film, The second wave of the Korean Wave, which started around 2008, shifted towards Korean popular music (K-pop) (Jin, 2016). Furthermore, while the first Korean Wave mainly reached other Asian countries, due to linguistic and cultural commonalities (Straubhaar, 1991), the second Korean Wave also gains a presence in the North American, South American and European market (Jin, 2016).

The export of cultural products could be affected due to political disputes and changing regulations. Over the years, the largest market for the export of K-drama's is China. However, in 2016, the export of K-dramas decreased due to China cutting off the import of Korean content, as a result of China opposing to the Terminal High Altitude Area Defense (THAAD) in Korea (KISDI, 2020). Losing such a large market causes Korea to turn to other export markets. Since 2016, the export to the Unites States increased due to the arrival of Netflix and signifies that Netflix heavily imported K-dramas (KISDI, 2020). This shows how global SVOD platforms could affect the Korean cultural industry.

2.5. Korean SVOD platforms

This following section will discuss the current SVOD platforms in Korea which will be useful to understand the industrial context and previous studies on web dramas in Korea to understand the societal and cultural context of local SVOD platforms in Korea.

Web dramas emerged as a new form of digital content in Korea (J. M. Kang, 2017). Local streaming service Naver TV cast, the most popular streaming service at that time, started the trend of producing web dramas. J. M. Kang (2017) argues that producing web dramas created more opportunities for creators as they did not have to rely on the limited distribution system of broadcasting networks. The web dramas were specifically produced to be easy to watch on smartphones and the target audience is focused on young adults and teens in Korea. This is because of the emergence of "snack culture", a concept which is defined as consuming cultural goods within a short period of time due to a busy lifestyle. This is also why web dramas in Korea had a short duration, consist of easy-to-follow storylines, for people to be able to watch it easily on-the-go on their mobile phone or during a break (G. H. Kang, 2020). Furthermore, the development of web dramas were actively supported by the government through organized festivals and events related to web dramas (J. M. Kang, 2021).

To provide a better understanding of the current streaming industry in Korea, the following paragraph will briefly introduce the most prominent local SVOD platforms. The three main national broadcasting networks Korean Broadcasting System (KBS), Seoul Broadcasting System (SBS) and Munhwa Broadcasting Company (MBC) established the SVOD platform POOQ in cooperation in 2012. In 2016, a joint venture between SK telecom and SK broadband launched the local SVOD platform Oksusu, who also provided exclusive content in attempt to stay ahead of Netflix with their own strategy (K. H. Kim, 2016). In 2019, POOQ and Oksusu joined forces and merged into SVOD platform Wavve. In particular, Wavve became the first Korean SVOD platform to invest in blockbuster drama, showing its strategy to create original content (J. Y. Moon, 2019). Next to Wavve, there is SVOD platform TVing, established under the Korean Entertainment conglomerate CJ ENM. And lastly to be discussed is independent SVOD platform Watcha, an SVOD platform focused on distributing and producing non-mainstream content. When Netflix entered the Korean SVOD market, it was already highly competitive with various local SVOD platforms. Compared to Netflix, local SVOD platforms are low priced, or even free because the local SVOD platforms are established by television broadcasting companies, cable TV systems, and telecom providers and thus offered bundled packages with the SVOD platform included. In Korea, the SVOD platforms serve as an extension of television rather than SVOD platforms taking over the television industry (E. C. Park, 2017).

2.6. Global SVOD platforms in Korea

Lastly, this section will discuss previous research on the arrival of global SVOD platforms, particularly Netflix, in the Korean market and the main topics of discussion amongst researchers on the perspective of global SVOD platforms in Korea.

The main financial resource of K-dramas is through advertisements, but this changed with the arrival of global SVOD platforms, as exemplified by a case study of *Mr. Sunshine* (2018) (H. C. Kim, 2019). Similar to the arrival of Netflix in Japan, Korea had a well-established local SVOD platform market. Despite the efforts of Netflix to attract local subscribers, Netflix was initially limited in its inability to provide attractive content for the Korean audience. This is why Netflix heavily invested in collaborating with local service providers and acquiring local content (KISDI, 2018). As Netflix paid for the broadcasting and copyright of the K-drama to be able to distribute it globally, Netflix covered most of the production costs. Following this strategy, cable networks such as tvN and JTBC are attracting investments to expand their production abilities instead of relying on advertisements as

opposed to terrestrial broadcasting networks (H. C. Kim, 2019). Similarly, Y. Kim (2022) analyzed the impact of global streaming platforms on locally produced media content through a case study on *Mr. Sunshine* (2018), showing the impact of Netflix on the production of *Mr. Sunshine* (2018) in terms of financial support. As a result of increasing amount of Korean content through global SVOD platforms, researchers have been interested in the reach of Korean television to East-Asia and America through global SVOD platforms. Given the impact of SVOD platforms on Korean television, Ju (2022) discusses how Korean television is utilized by SVOD platforms to cater to viewers in America (Ju, 2022, p. 79-94).

As discussed earlier, with U.S. media conglomerates dominating the global media industry, the increasing expansion of global SVOD platforms into local markets leads to the threat of global SVOD platforms dominating the local markets. Building on the theoretical framework of cultural imperialism, which focuses on the power dynamics and structure of global cultural industries, mainly between the United States and other countries, Jin (2016) discusses the rise of platform imperialism. Similar to cultural imperialism, platform imperialism forces other countries to take over American ways and customs. As the presence of digital platforms are becoming more and more relevant, the fear of U.S. platforms dominating local digital platforms are greater than before (Jin, 2016). Despite advancing digital platforms in Korea, digital platforms from the United States remain significant and continues to actualize its global dominance (Jin, 2017, p. 227). However, Netflix was not discussed among the digital platforms as SVOD platforms such as Netflix did not yet gain a prominent presence in Korea. Therefore, it would be interesting to examine global SVOD platforms in Korea to see what the dynamics are between global SVOD platforms and local SVOD platforms, whether these global SVOD platforms from the United States dominate the local market as well.

Conclusion

Building upon existing research on SVOD platforms, the television industry in transnational context, global SVOD platforms in national markets, the Korean television market, local SVOD platforms in Korea and Netflix's presence in Korea, this research aims to add additional knowledge of Netflix's presence in the Korean television market. Moreover, research on Netflix in Korea has been mainly focused on Netflix as a facilitator of Korean content. But as the trend of global SVOD platforms getting involved in producing original content increases, it is important to examine the production culture of global SVOD platforms in these national markets to understand the dynamics between those SVOD platform. Which is why this research

will focus on production practices of Korean content rather than mere licensing of Korean content. Furthermore, this study aims to gain a better understanding of discourses around SVOD platforms in Korea. With the growing presence of SVOD platforms in transnational context, it is necessary to see how these production practices continue to develop over time, providing new insights of global SVOD platforms regarding production practices in national markets like Korea, and how competing with global SVOD platforms impacts the local television market.

3. Method

This chapter serves to explain the method utilized for conducting the research. First, the methodological approach will be justified. Then, the process of collecting the data and the selection of data will be explained. Lastly, the method for analyzing the data will be clarified followed by an introduction to the main themes with their corresponding codes, which are leading to the analysis of the data.

3.1. Media industry studies approach

The main focus of this research will be on Netflix's production practices and discourses in Korean content and production practices and discourses of local SVOD platforms in original programming. Thus, for this research, the object of analysis are the organizations Netflix and Korean SVOD platform TVing, the largest local SVOD platform, and key individuals within these organizations and those who have a significant decision-making role for the production of the content of these organizations.

This thesis follows the methodological framework of a critical media industry studies approach (Havens et al., 2009). This approach seeks to understand how particular media texts develop and reshape industrial practices (Havens et al., 2009). It follows the believe that the way media gets made, influences what kind of media is made (Herbert et al., 2020). It distinguishes from other general methodological frameworks within the media and cultural studies, commonly used for examining industries, particularly political economy. While critical political economy studies also consider the issue of power dynamics, it gives little attention to key individuals and the role of these individuals within the media industries. Havens et al. (2009) argue that these individuals are crucial "in interpreting, focusing and redirecting economic forces that provide for complexity and contradiction within media industries (Havens et al., 2009, p. 236). To understand the production process, it is necessary to know what is being negotiated, what are the established partnerships, what becomes public and the reasoning behind these decisions. This is why this approach examines particular organizations, key individuals and practices within media conglomerates operating at a global level (Havens et al., 2009). Thus, the practices are examined to give meaning to the media and cultural industries by analyzing the discourses on a micro and meso level, between individuals and organizations, compared to the macro level perspective of the critical political economy approach.

To conclude, this research will be done on an organizational-level examining specific companies and key individuals that operate within the Korean television industry in order to gain a better understanding of the production process.

3.2 Data collection

In order to answer the proposed research questions, the data for this research is collected from online and publicly available statements from official press releases, interviews, and trade press articles. There is difficulty in obtaining access to certain corporate records due to organizations being protective and therefore not sharing data or insights into their practices. Therefore, interviews and trade press are valuable data in studies of individual corporations or production companies because these texts also provide discussion and awareness to the public and media professionals (Caldwell, 2008). Furthermore, trade publications contain detailed information about crucial industrial issues, events, and players, and are helpful in gaining background knowledge within the industry (Perren, 2015). However, trade press material should be examined critically. While using trade press material for research, data is limited by the reliability of the source and depended on the availability. Furthermore, the limitation of using trade publications is that these publicly available statements are mainly a form of commercial media (Newcomb and Lotz, 2012). Nevertheless, research using trade press articles are useful in gaining knowledge about shifting practices and adds to understanding of current issues and developments defining contemporary industry practices. Since the industry to be discussed is the Korean television market, most available and suitable data will be from Korean trade press articles from reliable newspapers.

The timeframe for collected data was limited to 2017 until present, starting from the release of *Okja* (2017) as this was the first Korean content co-produced with Netflix, in order to trace the development of the current dynamics between Netflix and local SVOD platforms. In total, fifty-three articles were collected, including news articles of interviews with Netflix representatives, representatives in the local streaming industry, Korean creatives who have collaborated with Netflix and official press releases from Netflix and TVing. These local creatives consist of individuals who collaborated with Netflix such as directors, writers, editors and CEO of local production companies. It is important to also examine local creative individuals such as managers, editors and writers as these individuals are crucial to the production and post-production process (Lotz, 2014). The articles were selected if it includes Netflix's and local SVOD platform production practices in Korean content production, statements by Netflix and local SVOD platforms regarding production practices and/or statements by local creatives within the Korean media industry regarding Netflix's involvement in production. Official press releases are collected from Netflix's newsroom and CJ ENM's newsroom, the media conglomerate who established TVing. The sources of news articles are

from Korean online newspaper websites such as Chosun, Maeil Business, Donga Ilbo, News1, and trade press Cine21.

3.3. Data analysis

In addition to production practices, the data was also analyzed in discursive context. Freeman (2016) defines qualitative approach in discursive context as follows: "...the ways in which media practitioners narrativise the transformation of deep social structures into clear sets of meanings and understandings about the media industries" (Freeman, 2016, p. 132). The transformation to be examined here is the process of the increasing presence of Netflix as a production player in Korea and to understand the discourses about Netflix in the Korean media industry. This research follows Jensen's theoretical framework of discourse analysis as a way of figuring out the transformation of social structures into sets of meanings and understandings about the media industries (Jensen, 2002). This framework consists of two moments in data analysis: heuristic coding and discourse analysis. The process of heuristic coding consists of a preliminary and constant coding process of verbal and other codes to different elements and structures of the dataset, followed by the discourse analysis, which refers to the definitive and detailed categorization of the extracted data during heuristic coding (Jensen, 2002, p. 248).

To analyze the data, the articles were coded by identifying patterns of the statements about production practices and discourses of Netflix and local creatives, using qualitative software ATLAS.ti. In total, twenty-one codes were identified according to the context of the statements. These codes were then categorized and grouped into six main themes:

- 1. Development of Netflix in Korean content production: production practices and statements that accounts for Netflix's increasing presence in Korean content production.
- 2. Working with Netflix: discourses of local creatives regarding Netflix's presence in Korean content production.
- 3. Netflix contributing to the local creative ecosystem: practices and discourses about Netflix contributing to the local creative ecosystem.
- 4. Recognition for Korean content: discourses on the increasing amount of Korean content production.
- 5. Local efforts for Korean content to go global: production practices of TVing and discourses on local SVOD platforms.
- 6. Concerns and future prospects: concerns from local SVOD platforms about the increasing presence of global SVOD platforms in local content production.

Each of the main themes will be discussed in detail in the Results chapter.

MAIN THEME	CODE
Development of Netflix in	partnership - investing in Korean content production -
Korean content production	collaborating with local creatives
Working with Netflix	opportunity – Netflix production style – creative freedom –
	whole process – unknown rating
Netflix contributing to the	innovation – contribution to local creative ecosystem
local creative ecosystem	
Recognition for Korean	why Korean content - global popularity - recognition for
content	Korean content – global growth – global audience
Local efforts for Korean	Korean content going global – local partnership / acquisitions
content to go global	– local strategy.
Concerns and future	concerns – dissatisfaction – policies
prospects	

Table 1: Coding scheme.

4. Results

This chapter will discuss the findings of this research according to the main themes which were mentioned in the previous methods chapter. The order of the themes is arranged in relation to each other to discuss the dynamics between Netflix and local creators in the Korean content production. The analysis will consist of statements offered by Netflix officials and local actors in the Korean content production in addition to production practices of Netflix and local SVOD platforms. To conclude, the following sections will discuss the main themes: development of Netflix in Korean content production, working together with Netflix, Netflix contributing to the local creative ecosystem, recognition for Korean content, local efforts for Korean content to go global, and lastly, concerns and future prospects.

4.1. Development of Netflix in Korean content production

After launching its service in Korea in 2016, Netflix announced its first co-produced Korean content release with the movie Okja (2017). Afterwards, Love Alarm (2019) was announced in 2017 to become Netflix first Korean original series, in partnership with local production company Hidden Sequence (Netflix, 2017). However, in 2018, Netflix announced that Love Alarm would be produced by Studio Dragon (Netflix, 2018). Following cooperation between Netflix and Studio Dragon in content production, they entered into a long-term partnership of three years starting from 2020 (Netflix, 2019a). This strategic partnership was an agreement between CJ ENM, the parent company of Studio Dragon, its subsidiary production company Studio Dragon and Netflix. According to Netflix, this partnership shows their commitment to Korean entertainment and allow them to bring more top-tier Korean drama to its members in Korea and all over the world (Netflix, 2019a). According to the CEO of Studio Dragon, the partnership shows recognition for Korean storytelling and production capabilities and shows ambition to take it a step further as a global major studio. Likewise, CJ ENM's CEO puts emphasis on Korean content going global: "CJ ENM is leading the market and expanding its huge achievement in Korea to overseas... the partnership with Netflix will introduce Korean content to global audiences" (Netflix, 2019a).

A few days later, Netflix announced another deal with a local company, JTBC, which is a television network and broadcasting company (Netflix, 2019b). This quickly followed partnership, after the partnership with CJ ENM and Studio Dragon, does not come as a surprise, because CJ ENM and JTBC launched their joint platform TVing, a few months before this announcement (J. W. Ko, 2019). This deal is a multi-year content distribution agreement between Netflix and JTBC to co-develop content in addition to the licensing agreement in 2017

to distribute JTBC content. The representative of JTBC says that this agreement signifies "the trust between JTBC and Netflix" and will drive "JTBC's entrance into overseas markets as a global production house with high-quality content" (Netflix, 2019a). Likewise, The CEO of Studio Dragon says that "Studio Dragon will try its best to leap forward as a global major studio" and the CEO of CJ ENM argues that "the partnership with Netflix will introduce Korean content to global audiences" (Netflix, 2019b). The discourse on both announcements shows that JTBC and CJ ENM / Studio Dragon are both aiming to expand the global presence of their content and the aim to enter into overseas markets as a global production house. Furthermore, Netflix declares that they are looking forward to collaborating with local creative communities and partners, implying the willingness of Netflix to collaborate with more local creators.

Netflix announced the decision to acquire more Korean films as well as producing Netflix original films with local creators in addition to Netflix original series in November 2020 (Netflix, 2020). Kim Minyoung, the Vice President of Content at Netflix, argues that the decision for this is because Korean films such as *Parasite* (2019) and Netflix's *Time to Hunt* (2020) have been receiving positive reviews around the world (Netflix, 2020). Meanwhile, local filmmakers gained the opportunity to release their film on Netflix during COVID-19, after films like *The Call* (2020) and *Space Sweepers* (2021) gets picked up by Netflix for distribution (S. Song, 2020b). Films which were actually made for the movie theaters were forced to screen their film on SVOD platforms, this became a common distribution practice in the global film market after the pandemic (Li et al., 2023). Both directors expressing their regrets of not being able to screen their films in theaters due to the situation which restricted their efforts from being shown completely in terms of sound and special effects but were glad to hear different responses across nations. Afterwards, Netflix collaborates with more local filmmakers to work on film production such as Jeong Byeong-gil for *Carter* (2022) and Park Hyun-jin for *Love and Leashes* (2022).

What is interesting, is that amongst the directors who have worked on Korean Netflix original series, there are a great number of directors coming from film production, who are directing a series for the first time instead of a film. *Move to Heaven* (2021) director Kim Seong-ho always thought about creating a series, especially since it has been difficult to gain investors for producing movies and with Netflix investing, there was no reason for him to reject the offer (H. J. Yoon, 2021b). For the director of *Squid Game* (2021), it was also the first time producing a series, arguing that the advantages were that there is enough time for storytelling and the possibility to incorporate various genres for each episode. The downside was the

difficulty to write and film so much work alone (W. J. Jang, 2021). A few other series who also produced by filmmakers who engaged in producing original series for the first time in collaboration with Netflix are *Hellbound* (2021), *Narco-Saints* (2022), *Somebody* (2022), *Glitch* (2022).

After original series and films, Netflix began investing in unscripted shows as well. When asked about the success of Korean unscripted shows Yoo Ki-hwan, the manager of non-fiction content at Netflix Korea, defends that "...we still consider it a success if there is a positive response from Korean viewers" (Y. Kwak, 2022). However, Korean director and producer Heo Hang explains the difficulty for global SVOD platforms to produce Korean unscripted shows: they are often "too Korean" - there is too much talking and words on the screen, which makes them hard to translate and digest" (Mackenzie, 2023).

Meanwhile in July 2021, Netflix strengthens their position in the Korean streaming market by partnering with post-production company Dexter Studio and subsidiary company Livetone, which is one of Korea's top post-production companies in addition to collaborating with local production companies and creators (Netflix, 2021a). Through this partnership, Netflix strengthens their network of Korean content companies in order to elevate their Korean content production, specifically in color finishing and sound mixing. In terms of managing the production process, Korea is the first country in Asia where Netflix established a separate content office (B. W. Kim, 2020) and in 2021, Netflix announced that they will establish two production facilities in Korea in order to strengthen their ability to produce more content in Korea (Netflix, 2021b). The efforts to localize the production and post-production process, is a core feature of transnationalization in order to improve efficiency (Esser, 2007).

Starting from Netflix's entering the Korean market until present time, Netflix managed to form strategic partnerships with locally well-known production companies and cooperates with various local creators in order to produce original content in various forms of series, films and unscripted shows. In order to improve efficiency of the production process, Netflix also invests in an own content office, production facilities and partners with local post-production companies. Kang Dong Han, the vice-president of content of the Korea division argues that Netflix is accustoming to the ways of production Korean creators are used to (M. K. Shim, 2022). However, after working together with Netflix, local creators state suggests otherwise.

4.2. Working with Netflix

This section addresses the discourse from Netflix officials and Korean creators who work together with Netflix in relation to Netflix's production methods. The purpose of this is to gain

an understanding of the dynamics between Netflix and Korean creators during the process of content production. The main themes are opportunity, Netflix's production style, creative freedom and unknown rating.

Regarding the production of Okja (2017), director Bong Joon-ho claims that "it is because of Netflix that I was able to create this movie" (H. S. Han, 2017). Likewise, Lee Eungbok, director of Sweet Home (2020) says "It would have been impossible if it wasn't for Netflix" (J. Lee, 2020), and Squid Game (2021) director Hwang Dong-hyuk state that "there was no other choice than Netflix" (W. J. Jang, 2021). This shows that Korean creators see working together with Netflix as an opportunity. With the amount of money Netflix invests in producing original Korean contents, this finding shows that while Netflix approved and invested in the production of these contents and being able to distribute these contents on their platform, locally, it was difficult for Korean creators to get funding or investments. This could be due to lack of funding and/or budget, or the content was not attractive enough to invest in or too bold to produce it for television broadcasting. To exemplify, the writer of Kingdom (2019) was told that because of the genre, it was impossible to air on television and was told to "go to the United States to make it" (J. H. Park, 2019; M. A. Lee, 2019a). Likewise, the director of Move to Heaven (2021) thought the genre was not suitable for television but it was possible with Netflix (H. J. Yoon, 2021a), and the producer of Sweet Home (2021) praises Netflix for supporting unusual stories and genres (CJ News, 2021a).

As Korea has a homogenous culture, working together with American company Netflix was intimidating at first (M. A. Lee, 2019b). There were questions of concern such as "would we be able to communicate in English" and "wouldn't it be difficult for foreigners who lack an understanding of the Korean content production system? (M. A. Lee, 2019b). Indeed, Writer Kim Eun-hee sensed during the pre-production stage with Netflix that it was difficult to communicate due to the language barrier. Back then, they met physically in the Singapore office. Kim Eun-hee could not exactly understand what they were saying as they all spoke in English (J. H. Park, 2019). Lee Sung-kyu started working for Netflix and took on a position he never heard of before: the physical production manager. A physical production manager manages everything that happens at the production location and it also oversees areas related to the filming site. Lee says that he thinks Netflix added the word physical to emphasize that it is a team that communicates closely with the site and participates in production (M. A. Lee, 2019b). The producer of *Sweet Home* (2020) also emphasized on communication, which was necessary due to having three directors and three writers in one team. Furthermore, while working on writing the script for *Kingdom* (2019), Kim Eun-hee writer kept contact with

Netflix to discuss details of the script (J. H. Park, 2019). This shows the importance of the ability to communicate and coordinate within a transnational production environment, not only within a team, but also with other departments, and for example with lawyers and consultants to oversee contracts (Mikos, 2019).

Some reorganizational/managerial practices are new to Korean creators as well. CEO of production company A-Story notices the quick process of discussing production and the amount of paperwork that came with it. He described the contracts as longer than the contracts with Korean broadcasters, being subdivided by guidelines and rules about subjects such as copyright and technology (M. A. Lee, 2019a). According to the Netflix Post-production Director of the Korea division Ha Jungsu, there is a global production guideline (M. A. Lee, 2019b). Netflix utilizes a Quality Control procedure, performed by Netflix employees. This might make directors feel uncomfortable because they get the feeling that their work needs to be verified. However, the post-production manager argues that he thinks it is a good addition as a way to go over technical matters. (M. A. Lee, 2019b). Netflix claims to be involved during the whole process of production: "We are working together on everything from planning to filming, post-production and distribution, to create a backward linkage effect" (J. H. Lee, 2021). These structures, strategies and management practices are needed to stimulate a transnational work environment and to work efficiently (van Keulen et al., 2020).

Another unusual process is the pre-production method of filming. The pre-production method is when all the content is filmed before release. For Netflix, this is necessary because Netflix also has to add subtitles and dubbing in post-production for its global audience, which takes some time before they can release it on the platform. In Korea, they are accustomed to the live production method, meaning they shoot simultaneously when the series is already airing on television, within about a two-week timeframe (Oh, 2015). This method is used because the producers can adjust the series when necessary, depending on the response of the audience. But with the pre-production method, Korean creators do not get any response from the audience at all, which makes them anxious (J. Y. Moon, 2022). However, the live production method receives a lot of criticism as the staff is often overworked as they urgently need to film to meet the schedule. Having experience with this production method in the field, the physical production manager wants to establish the pre-production method in the Korean production culture (M. A. Lee, 2019b). Another difference mentioned is the structure of a series as mentioned by director Lee Kyung-mi: "Because it's a Netflix series, I had to pay attention to the structure of the season as there are guidelines" (N. Y. Kim, 2020). Traditional Korean series usually consists of approximately 16 episodes with a duration of 70-80 minutes per episodes and Korean web series have a short duration of around 15 minutes. Netflix Korean original content, particularly series, are formatted according to Netflix's convention as this format is optimized for binge-watching, with Netflix originals usually consists of 6-8 episodes with a duration of approximately 50 minutes per episode (J. H. Park, 2019). As explained by Havens & Lotz (2017), these established guidelines and structures of Netflix influence the production culture of the creators, and they stick to these guidelines and structures, because Netflix is convinced that it works (Havens and Lotz, 2017, p. 11).

In addition to the guidelines and structures of producing Netflix content, Netflix controls in detail about the kind of content they produce and particularly in the manner the content is being displayed on their platform. For example, in *Kingdom* (2019), Netflix seemed reluctant to include a scene where a dog had to be killed and in *Extracurricular* (2020), Netflix consulted with the Ministry of Gender Equality and Family and included a Korean helpline of the Youth Cyber Counseling Center at the end of each episode as a countermeasure because the series contains socially controversial topics (J. H. Park, 2019; J. S. Hong, 2020). As the show is distributed around the world, the subtitles encourage in case of needing help to call a local helpline instead. As the content is exclusively produced to be distributed on Netflix, the title of the content cannot have the same title as other content in the Netflix library. This is explained by the director of *My Name* (2021) who initially intended to name the series Undercover (J. S. Park, 2021).

Despite all of this, *Squid Game* (2021) director Hwang Dong-hyuk said in an interview that there were no limitations at all regarding the length, format, time or depicting nudity and violence (W. J. Jang, 2021). Creative freedom is surely a topic that has been discussed often during interviews with Korean creators. Lee Kyung-mi, director of *The School Nurse Files* (2020) reveals that she wanted to work with Netflix because she was curious about the freely creative process during content production (N. Y. Kim, 2020). For *Okja* (2017) Bong Joon Ho expressed that he had 100% control in terms of scenario, music etc. (H. S. Han, 2017). He told Yang, the editing director of *Okja* (2017) that he "could do whatever he wants because we have full editing rights" (J. H. Lee, 2017). Furthermore, producer of *Sweet Home* (2020) discusses the open environment of discussing ideas and opinions during the production process (CJ News, 2021a) and A-Story's CEO thinks that this way we do not have to limit the imagination of the writer (M. A. Lee, 2019b).

Thus, although it appears that Korean creators have significant freedom during the production process, within Netflix, the procedure prior to the production process appears to be complex. The work that the creative team wants to pursue has to go through a lot of departments

before it gets approved. Decision can easily be made if it is your own department but higher ups and co-workers from other departments can always question your decision and all information within the company is shared transparently (M. A. Lee, 2019a). In this way, Netflix always remains in control. This exemplifies the concept of Havens & Lotz (2017) of circumscribed agency, where agents have "some degree of individual autonomy, even though their autonomy is delimited by a range of forces including the cultures from which they come, the conventions of the media in which they work, and the priorities of their organizations and superiors" (Havens and Lotz, 2017, p.11).

Another notable theme that was often mentioned by local creators is the response of the content for the creators after release. Whereas drama directors and writers were used to having a television rating and movie directors had the box office to measure how many people have seen their work, Netflix does not reveal the rating for their content, not even to the creators of the content. This resonates with Burroughs (2019) concept of streaming lore as because the content is on a streaming service, there is ambiguity about the quality of television and the algorithmic audience. Kim Seung-yoon and Kim Hong-seon mentioned that they do not receive the rating and are therefore unaware of how well their content is doing in terms of reception but they do find out through the ranking on the Netflix platform (J. Y. Moon, 2022; S. Y. Kim, 2022b). CEO of A-story says that instead of the rating, nowadays the response on the internet is what determines the success of a content (M. A. Lee, 2019a). Thus, the success of the content is measured by discourses about the content.

To conclude, Netflix provides local creators with the opportunity to be able to produce content, opposed to local creators who are reluctant to produce certain content due to funding or narrative reasons. While working with Netflix, local creators encountered organizational and management differences between Netflix and local media companies. First of all, there is a language barrier between local creators and Netflix, followed by the need to follow Netflix's guidelines. Despite the need to follow Netflix's guidelines, local creators argue about the benefits of 'creative freedom' while working with Netflix, but also note the differences in content formatting and production method compared to what local creators are used to. Furthermore, due to anti-transparent policies of Netflix, local creators only know how their content is received by audiences through discourses about the produced content on the internet. While within the transnational production environment, it is necessary to have structure and management practices, it is clear that Netflix is taking the role of management in this position and control in terms of decision-making.

4.3. Netflix contributing to the local creative ecosystem

Besides Netflix giving opportunities to produce content, Netflix also introduces new resources and technologies and brand themselves as a contributor to the local creative ecosystem. The next section will discuss Netflix's practices and discourse relating to Netflix's contribution to the creative ecosystem of Korea. This serves to understand the position of Netflix within the local production industry and discuss the discourses on the impact of Netflix on the Korean market.

To work more efficiently, Netflix alters the workflow by designing supervisors to create a more responsible production environment (Netflix, 2022a; Netflix, 2022b). Other than a different way of producing content in terms of structure and management, Netflix also claims to have introduced new technologies and techniques to Korean creators such as spectral motion and special effects (J. Lee, 2020; CJ News, 2021a). In addition, Netflix Originals are shoot in 4K opposed to the usual 2K in Korea and after applying technologies such as Dolby Vision, and Atmos to the Korean production environment, Dolby Vision is claimed to be applied for almost all works created with Dolby Atmos used for almost half of Netflix's works (M. A. Lee, 2019b). Physical production manager Ha Jeongsu emphasized on the resources Netflix's brings: "I told them to make use of Netflix's resources" (M. A. Lee, 2019b). This shows that Korean creators were unfamiliar with certain technologies and techniques and that they were reluctant with utilizing Netflix's resources. For Sweet Home (2020), Director Lee Eung-bok disclosed that there was no team in Korea who could do special effects make-up for the appearance of the monsters and they had to look for specialists elsewhere (J. Lee, 2020). Also, through Sweet Home (2020) N-cam technology was introduced for the first time in Korea. This is a technology to make 3D design of the monsters look realistic on screen. Collaborating with American specialists who gained experience through works in Hollywood and using innovative technology was made possible because of Netflix's connections as it was a Netflix original production.

Through their partnership with Netflix, post-production studio Dexter Studio has added new technologies (Netflix, 2021b; Netflix, 2021c). What is interesting is the statement released by Netflix on the announcement of its partnership with Dexter Studio and Livetone. The statement was released in both English and Korean, but the tone is clearly different for each language. While recognizing quality Korean content, the English statement (Netflix, 2021b) uses words such as "thank all our ... for their support" and "collaborate with the post-production industry" to express the relationship between Netflix and local creators. In addition, the statement mentions the various efforts of Netflix collaborating with the local post-production

industry. As opposed to this, the first sentence of the statement in Korean (Netflix, 2021c) starts off right away with the aim of Netflix to grow with the local creative ecosystem and its plans to put together a specialized post-production team in order to reach the full potential of the creativity of local creators, followed by mentioning the various efforts that have been made by Netflix to contribute to the local creative ecosystem. By doing this, it is evident that Netflix is positioning themselves to the Korean readers as providing support for local creators. Furthermore, Netflix once again mentions its wish to further expand their collaboration with local creators and says that by doing this, it will increase the status of the local creative ecosystem and contribute to global success of Korean content. The difference in tone shows that the statements are adjusted according to the targeted audience, with Netflix using their image of a contributor to the local creative ecosystem because it emphasizes on Netflix's contributions to the local creative ecosystem and how it will contribute to global success of Korean content in the Korean version, Netflix is branding themselves as contributor to the local creative ecosystem towards the Korean audience.

Notably, Netflix emphasizes their contribution to the local creative ecosystem in a report, released in September 2021. This report estimates the socio-economic impact of Netflix on the Korean creative ecosystem ever since Netflix entered the local market in 2016 (Netflix, 2021d). Netflix claims that their impact in Korea is not only apparent in the creative industry, but also spills over to the original IP content industry, consumer goods and tourism and consequently, presents that Netflix contributes to the globalization of the Korean Wave. Thus, with this report, Netflix is not only branding themselves with the image of contributor of Korean content, but also contributor to the other industries of Korea. The most prominent contribution is the number of jobs that came with Netflix, specifically in the content production industry (M. K. Shim, 2022). For example, CEO of Westworld, a special effects company, acknowledges the growth of his company since collaborating with Netflix, which grew from three employees to almost hundred (J. H. Lee, 2021).

Besides introducing new technologies in the post-production process and proving work opportunities, Netflix appears to be contributing to foster future talented creatives. Eyeline Studios, a subsidiary of Netflix, invests hundred million dollars to establish a new video production studio in Seoul. (D. Ko, 2022). This signifies strengthening the relationship between Netflix and the Seoul Metropolitan Government to further improve the local digital media industry. Moreover, the new production studio aims to educate future video producers on developing various skills such as filmmaking software and machine-learning algorithms (D. Ko, 2022). Netflix has also been holding events and webinars for educational purposes and will

assist in nourishing VFX creators in collaboration with the Korea Radio Promotion Association (R. S. Kim, 2022). This shows that local media professionals believe that there is much to gain by working together with Netflix and it serves as learning opportunities for local creators to improve their own local production system. Netflix (2022b) gives the reason for sharing their technologies with local creators to not only to improve future Netflix contents, but also contribute to the overall Korean production industry. However, this could also be seen as a manner of promoting their image of contributor to the local creative ecosystem.

In conclusion, the announcement of Netflix's partnership with Dexter Studio, exemplifies how Netflix positions themselves within the local media industry as a contributor to the local creative ecosystem, specifically only to the Korean audience. As official press releases are intended for industry individuals, Netflix is emphasizing on their image of contributor to the local creative system. Netflix takes this a step further by releasing a report arguing the socio-economic impact of Netflix on the Korean creative ecosystem. In addition, Netflix is aiming to improve the skills of local individuals by introducing resources such as new technologies and techniques and organizing various educational programs and workshops, which also adds to strengthening their image as contributor but also for the future.

4.4. Recognition for Korean content

The question then arises why Netflix would invest so much in producing original content, specifically Korean content. When announcing new partnerships, Netflix always acknowledges how loved Korean content on Netflix has been, as a way of reasoning why Netflix would invest further in Korean content production: "Korean content is impressing the world through Netflix" (Netflix, 2021c) emphasizing that "Korean storytelling and production abilities are beloved by global audiences" (Netflix, 2019a) and praises Korean content for its "incredible talent, bold stories and state of the art post-production facilities" (Netflix, 2021c), describing the Korean creative industry as "content creation prowess" and "world-class" (Netflix, 2019a; Netflix, 2022a). The then Netflix's Korean content vice-president Kim Min Young notes that the local creative ecosystem is very strong and well equipped and that the reason why Korean content is successful is because it focuses on emotional and human aspects compared to other foreign series (Nam, 2021). Moreover, the decision to invest in Korean content was in the past focused on creating content for the whole world but now Netflix focuses on making content enjoyable for Koreans, for it to be enjoyable across Asia, and the rest of the world (Nam, 2021). This shows the change in strategy. First, they wanted to make universal enjoyed content but now Netflix argues that the appeal lies in content with local elements. Later, the now Korean content vice-president Kang said that from the beginning, Korean's content capabilities were of world-class standard (M. K. Shim, 2022). Similarly, Yoo Ki-hwan, the manager of non-fiction content at Netflix Korea, argues that content is considered successful when it is well received locally, rather than looking at the global audience (Kwak, 2022). Thus, this shows that when producing content, Netflix focuses on whether it will be attractive for its Korean audience rather than its global audience.

As shown in section 4.2., whereas drama directors were used to having a television rating and movie directors had the box office to measure how many people have seen their work, Netflix does not reveal the rating for their content, not even to the creators. The recognition for their content comes from discourses online, for example the director of *Money Heist: Korea – Joint Economic Area* (2022) could not believe the global popularity of the series (S. Y. Kim, 2022a) and the director of *The Sound of Magic* (2022) felt the global popularity when *The Sound of Magic* (2022) ranked fourth globally on Netflix (J. Y. Moon, 2022). Writer Kim Eun-hee spoke about the marketing for *Kingdom* (2019) and argues that it indicates recognition and trust in Korean content: "there must be a reason for spending so much on promoting Kingdom" (J. H. Park, 2019). Meanwhile, Korean directors and writers claim that Netflix invests in producing Korean content because of Korean storytelling, for example the director of *Sweet Home* (2020): "they welcome new attempts such as stories, materials, and genres that have not been released before, and support them accordingly" (CJ News, 2021a).

After the global success of Korean Netflix original *Squid Game* (2021), Creators of *Squid Game* (2021) have been recognized for their talents as there have been numerous nominations at global award ceremonies. This leads to more potential collaborations, including Hollywood (Jang, 2021). On the other hand, the global success of *Squid Game* (2021) also causes feelings of pressure for local creators but were overall happy that Korean content is finally gaining attention and looking forward to being rewarded for good results (J. S. Park, 2021). Director Yeon Sang-ho of *Hellbound* (2021) argues that the recognition is merely overflowing now, but that the recognition for Korean content was already there with great content building up over the years and are well-received globally because of incorporating universal themes in content (H. J. Han, 2021). On the other hand, Kim Yo-han, the CEO of Watcha believes that the reason is because Korea is cost effective when it comes to creating great content (Jeong, 2022). Likewise, Kang Ji-eun, the director of broadcasting and video advertising at the Ministry of Culture, Sports and Tourism also names overall high production competitiveness and cost-efficiency as the reason why may platforms are investing in Korea with the goal of entering the Asian market (Jeong, 2022). For example, Paramount+ is also

entering in the Korean market first, before spreading to other countries in Asia (T. H. Lee, 2022; CJ ENM, 2022).

The focus of Korean content reaching the world because of Netflix is also something Korean creators keep in mind while creating content. During the production process, they admit to analyzing the taste of global viewers finding ways to create content to appeal to the global audience (J. Lee, 2020, Jang, 2021; S. Y. Kim, 2022a; S. Y. Kim 2022b), or to focus on certain recognizable elements considering the reactions of previous similar works of the global audience. (CJ News, 2021a). While writing the scenario for Love and Leases (2022) relatable to people around the world, which is why Netflix was the best platform to work with. (Chosun Media, 2021). Director Lee Kyung-mi decided to collaborate with Netflix because she wanted to her work to be available to watch anytime and thought about appealing to audience but also adding local elements, to making it interesting for foreign viewers. (N. Y. Kim, 2020). Although unscripted show creator Na Yeong-suk worries about Korean unscripted shows being "too Korean" for global viewers, he expresses his desire for foreign audiences to love the show and believes that in order for shows to become successful globally, you need to cast globally well-known celebrities. (Mackenzie, 2023). After collaborating with Netflix on Kingdom (2019), CEO of production company A-Story is proud of the "amazing experience to see foreigners watch Korean dramas and pouring out reviews in English," (M. A. Lee, 2019a). After global recognition he says ambitiously that working together with Netflix, the biggest advantage was to gain experience in making global content, we have stepped foot in the global market. He is open to working with other global streaming platforms as "the goal is to enter Hollywood, no matter which company we partner with" (M. A. Lee, 2019a). This implies that Netflix provided the opportunity and is being used as a steppingstone for the production company to enter the global market.

Impressed with Korean storytelling and production capabilities, Netflix continues to invest in Korean content and believes that there is no difference in great content between local and global, what works in Korea, works globally too. Korean creators who have worked with Netflix argue that because of producing content with Netflix, it has opened doors for them to produce content globally (CJ News, 2021b; Jang, 2021). Which is why local creators are finding ways to make their content attractive for global viewers (CJ News, 2021a).

4.5. Local efforts for Korean content to go global

The general goal of media industries is to maximize profits by selling content products to the largest possible audience at the highest possible price, because a larger market means more

profit to be gained. (Havens and Lotz, 2017). This is why local SVOD platforms aim to go global. The CEO of A-Story has set his goal for the company to enter the Hollywood market: "if we succeed in the Hollywood market, we can gain an incredible amount of profit... not necessarily decided to make these works only as a Netflix original. "Whatever company we collaborate with, the goal is to enter Hollywood." (M. A. Lee, 2019a). Local content companies and local creators want to meet the global market. Likewise, local SVOD platforms have the same goal of bringing their platform to a global level. JTBC and CJ ENM created a joint OTT platform in 2019, TVing. JTBC explains that through cooperating with CJ ENM, it will raise the overall competitiveness of local media to a global level (J. W. Ko, 2019). In addition, CJ ENM and JTBC both note the importance of a system where the strategy is to not only constantly produce differentiated content but also to distribute content on various platforms and reinvest the profits in content. (J. W. Ko, 2019). Similar to Netflix, TVing's main focus is original programming (CJ News, 2021b). Afterwards, company Naver Corporations, owning various IP rights from webtoons and web novels, invests 40 billion won in TVing to strengthen cooperation and to produce content based on the IP of webtoons and web novels (K. B. Lee, 2021). The trend of producing content based of webtoons and web novels is also used by Netflix, for example, Love Alarm (2017), Sweet Home (2020), Hellbound (2021), The Sound of Magic (2022) and so on. Yoon Shin-ae, the CEO of local production company studio329 also wishes to continue experimenting with IP expansion and shows the desire of Korean creators to be able to lead the production of overseas (Yoo, 2022).

Becoming the leading local SVOD platform, TVing forming strategic partnerships with other SVOD platforms from the United States in order to take a step closer to become a global K-content platform. In December 2021, CJ ENM announced a partnership with ViacomCBS which does not only includes distribution of content but also content licensing and co-productions for original series and films (CJ Newsroom, 2021). This partnership served as the basis for the collaboration between TVing and Paramount+, the respective SVOD platforms of both companies. In June 2022, TVing joined hands with Paramount+ and announced a "brand hall" launch for Paramount+ in Korea (T. H. Lee, 2022). This means that Paramount+ content will be available in Korea through TVing with its own Paramount+ tab. This marks the first step of Paramount+ content into the Asian market. Both companies will in addition to licensing and distributing content, also co-produce original series and movies. They also established plans to produce Korean remakes of global franchise content and reality shows, which is possible by the owned IP rights. A month after TVing announced the merging with Seezn, a local SVOD platform which was established by telecom company KT Telecom to strengthen

their technology and service. (CJ ENM, 2022). Another strategy of TVing is to use external platforms to display CJ ENM's content by distributing their content on various SVOD platforms in the United States such as Amazon Prime Video, Apple TV and The Roku Channel (CJ Newsroom, 2022c; CJ Newsroom, 2022d; CJ Newsroom, 2022e).

In April 2022, CJ Newsroom (2022a) announced the launch of CJ ENM STUDIOS, which will focus on original content production specifically for suitable for streaming and for a global audience. The strategy was to recruit talented creators and acquire top production companies in order to strengthen the global competitiveness of CJ ENM. In addition to their multi-studio system, CJ ENM rebranded production subsidiary Fifth Season to further strengthens the global content production capabilities. (CJ Newsroom, 2022b). The CEO of CJ ENM Kang Ho-sung explained that with the multi-studio structure, it will provide CJ ENM with more opportunities to expand globally and expand production capabilities.

Furthermore, Kang invested in DreamWorks because he wanted to learn about the Hollywood system and the global standard for content (Seo, 2022). K-content is well received globally but because of intermediate operators and procedures in distribution process, CJ ENM wants to implement long-term projects, leading to a global strategy (Yoon, 2021c). Because of these efforts, TVing goal to go global has intensified is a short amount a time which is visible in their statements which started off as "strengthen the influence of TVing originals by producing... not only in Korea but also in the global market" in 2021 to "grow into a global number one K-content platform" in 2022 (Lee, 2021; Seo, 2022). Following the streaming lore of Burroughs (2019), TVing utilizes the same strategy to create OTT-optimized and different contents from its competitors. Specifically, TVing explained how the use of data affected determining the cast and the time of release for Tving's variety show *Girls High School Mystery Class* (2021) (CJ News, 2021b).

Local SVOD platform Wavve is also gathering capabilities to grow as a global K-content platform. Wavve believes that the strategy to gain global competitiveness is to join forces. After all, Wavve is established as a SVOD platform by the three main terrestrial broadcasting stations in Korea. Starting by acquiring the number one K-content platform KOCOWA, Lee Tae-hyun, CEO of Wavve reveals Wavve's strategy to gradually expand globally: "While establishing a synergy system with KOCOWA, we are also pushing for cooperation with various global media partners... our goal is to establish ourselves as the best K-content platform in the global market in a short time." (Content Wavve, 2022). Wavve does acknowledge the contribution of Netflix to the local market but argues that it is only one of the many SVOD platforms instead of being a sole K-content provider.

4.6. Concerns and future prospects

The last section of the results chapter aims to address the concerns and future prospects of local individuals within the SVOD platform industry, to understand the current concerns and discourses for the SVOD platform industry in local context. For this section, the sub-themes consist of concerns, dissatisfaction and policies.

Hwang Dong-hyuk, director of Squid Game (2021) questions whether it would be necessary to enter the global market if locally there would be the possibility to get enough budget and creative freedom (Jang, 2021). However, this is a statement from a standpoint of a director. If we compare this to the statement of production company CEO Lee Sang-baek, is the purpose of content creation: for creative purposes or to make profit? Because if *Kingdom* (2019) was produced with own funding and then distributed, it would have brought more profit to A-story. But Lee Sang-back reveals that he has a long-term plan to gain more profit (M. A. Lee, 2029a). Mikos (2019) argues that creators work together with media conglomerates from the United States because they increase the budget. The budget of local creators is not comparable with global SVOD platforms from the United States. Even when the produced content becomes very successful, local creators do not benefit from it because Netflix owns the intellectual property rights of the produced content (Jeong, 2022). Kim Yo-han calls upon the role of the Korea Creative Content Agency (KOCCA) or the Ministry of Culture, Sports and Tourism in attempt to change the structure where producers must give all the copyrights to the platform to obtain production costs. However, it is especially difficult to regulate because there are different OTT contracts with each content having a different contract.

In respond, the director of broadcasting and video advertising at the Ministry of Culture, Sports and Tourism claims that they are reviewing support policies for funding based on IP sharing with production companies (Jeong, 2022). Egg is Coming, a subsidiary production company under CJ ENM Studios, is looking for ways of expanding intellectual property rights for series. Although Ko Chang-nam, Director of TVing doubts whether funding from the government will result in great content, he calls for support for related promotion policies and funding (Yoon, 2021c). He aims to be able to bring content to the viewers without intermediate operators and argues that various SVOD platform should exists to prevent Netflix from dominating the video streaming industry. Director of Wavve argues that the focus should be on creating a foundation for growth to be able to create content. (Jo, 2020)

The last section shows the current discourses of industry individuals on the development and concerns for the local SVOD platform industry. After the global success of *Squid Game* (2021), the local creators are not gaining profit from its success because Netflix

owns the intellectual property rights. Local creators are in constant discussion with KOCCA or the Ministry of Culture, Sports and Tourism in order to provide regulations to prevent unfair competition in the local market. Although authorities agree that there should be policies in support of local SVOD platforms, implementing policies is complex. Rather than depending on authorities, local industry individuals argue that policies and funding do not necessary mean that great content will be produced. Thus, the strategy of local SVOD platforms is to join forces in order to prevent what Jin (2017) termed as platform imperialism, namely that Netflix will dominate the local market.

5. Conclusion

In addition to existing research on SVOD platforms in transnational context, this thesis aimed to examine the dynamics between global SVOD platform Netflix and local creators. Especially as Netflix has been gaining a prominent presence in the local SVOD platform market and continues to invest in Korean content production, this study was specifically focused on the production practices and discourses on content production of Netflix and individuals, active in the local SVOD platform industry. Which is why this thesis aims to provide an answer for the following research questions: What are the discourses on Netflix in Korean content production? What are the production practices of Netflix in Korea? What are the production practices of local SVOD platforms? In order to answer the proposed research questions, this study analyzed official press releases, online and publicly available news articles, and trade press coverage that discusses Netflix's involvement in Korean content production and production practices of local SVOD platforms. This is done by analyzing production practices and discourses from a media industry studies approach. Additionally, this study discussed de dynamics between Netflix and local creators, local production companies and SVOD platforms, and the Korean media industry. Hence, on an individual, organizational and industry level.

The findings of this research show that Netflix's formed strategic partnerships with local production companies and collaborate with local creators which shows their efforts in Korean content production and continues to invest in Korean content production. In addition, by analyzing the discourse of key individuals who collaborate with Netflix, the perspective of local creatives shows that Netflix takes on a controlling and management role in the process of production despite the articulation of 'creative freedom' when working with Netflix. This reveals the power imbalance between Netflix, who is in charge of management and decision-making, whereas local creatives follow the guidelines and structures of Netflix. Although Netflix definitely brings beneficial resources to local content productions, it appears that Netflix is emphasizing on their image as contributor to the local creative ecosystem, which is apparent in discourse targeted towards the Korean audience and local industry professionals.

After working with Netflix, it appears that the experience of local creatives is overall positive. They see working with Netflix as a way of learning and gain knowledge on techniques and structures, which could be beneficial to use in other productions as well outside of Netflix. While Netflix initially invested heavily in Korean content to attract the local audience, local production companies see the opportunity to go global. Besides the television market, there has been significant changes especially in the film market as well after the COVID-19 pandemic, regarding film production, distribution and consumption (Li et al., 2023). Many movie theatres

were forced to close which resulted in delay of film releases. This causes films to be released through SVOD platforms (Li et al., 2023). This change has also been apparent in Korea as we see film releases which were actually meant for theatrical release. The distribution of Korean content through global SVOD platforms and increase in co-productions shows the global recognition for Korean content and contributes to the third Korean Wave (S. Song, 2020a).

Likewise, local SVOD platforms who are already well-established locally, have similar strategies to go global. Local SVOD platforms are following the same strategy as global SVOD platforms by focusing on producing original content to distinguish themselves from other SVOD platforms. However, with Netflix having a prominent presence in the local SVOD platform market, local SVOD platforms are concerned for their own position in the SVOD platform industry. To prevent Netflix from dominating the local SVOD market, local SVOD platforms are in strengthening their own production capabilities. In order to strengthen their own production and distribution capabilities, local SVOD platforms such as TVing, are forming strategic partnerships, merging and acquiring with not only other local companies, but also American companies. The local SVOD platform owns a wide range of intellectual property rights through merger and acquisitions of production studios and agreements with companies such as Naver. By distributing content through their own SVOD platform, intellectual property rights stay within the company and thus create a sustainable creative ecosystem where the profits will be used for funding content production.

However, With Netflix and other SVOD platforms such as Disney+ and Paramount starting to produce original Korean content, it raises concerns for local SVOD platforms, which result in requests of various policies to protect the local creative ecosystem and prevent others from dominating the market. The findings further shows that local production companies and SVOD platforms are trying to catch up with Netflix by adapting certain techniques, resources and production practices to prevent platform imperialism by Netflix in the local Korean market. Furthermore, although because of Netflix investing heavily and funding production costs, local creatives are able to produce certain Korean content, after the success of *Squid Game* (2021), local creators were not able to get compensation for its success due to Netflix holding the intellectual property rights. Protecting intellectual property rights is crucial in order to enhance the national economy and protect the content (Jin, 2016). Being aware of the importance of intellectual property rights, local production companies aim to find ways to extend the owned intellectual property rights in order to generate the most profit.

This study is limited in a way that among many trade press interviews available online, only fifty-three articles were selected and analyzed in-depth. Regarding the collected data, it is

limited in the way that only news articles were collected that were online publicly available at the time of collecting data, and therefore cannot account for news articles that might not exist anymore. Furthermore, trade press interviews of media industry professionals are mostly used for commercial media. Indeed, most of the interviews, Korean creatives tried to only talk about the content. Despite this, the interviews were insightful as it contained discourses on Netflix's production practices in Korean content production and gave valuable meanings about Netflix's presence in Korea and the local Korea production industry. As the main object of this analysis was Netflix, the strategies and discourse on local SVOD platforms were looked into briefly but it is encouraged to be explore it further by examining other local SVOD platforms in-depth.

Since the SVOD platform industry continues to grow, further research is needed to compare different SVOD strategies, especially production practices between other SVOD platforms in national and transnational context. Especially with the increasing presence of global SVOD platforms in the Korean media landscape, further research on the arrival of other global SVOD platforms besides Netflix should be examined as well. In addition, research on local SVOD platforms is necessary to gain more knowledge on the developments of local SVOD platforms and the possibility of these local SVOD platforms to go global. As demonstrated in this research, examining the discourse on different levels is crucial in understanding the dynamics between a global SVOD platform like Netflix and Korea, a local market with ambitious local SVOD platforms who strive to go global.

References

- Aguiar, L., & Waldfogel, J. (2018). Netflix: global hegemon or facilitator of frictionless digital trade? *Journal of Cultural Economics: Published in Cooperation with the Association for Cultural Economics International*, 42(3), 419–445. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10824-017-9315-z
- Bong, J. (Director). (2017). *Okja* [Film]. Plan B Entertainment; Lewis Pictures; Kate Street Picture Company.
- Bong, J. (Director). (2019). Parasite [Film]. Barunson E&A.
- Buck, A. M., & Plothe, T. (Eds.). (2019). *Netflix at the nexus: content, practice, and production in the age of streaming television.*
- Burroughs, B. (2019). House of Netflix: streaming media and digital lore. *Popular Communication*, 17(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/15405702.2017.1343948
- Byun, S. (Executive Producer). (2021). Hellbound [TV series]. Climax Studio.
- Caldwell, J. (2008). *Production Culture: Industrial Reflexivity and Critical Practice in Film and Television*. New York, USA: Duke University Press. https://doi.org/10.1515/9780822388968
- Castro, D., & Cascajosa, C. (2020). From Netflix to Movistar+: How Subscription Video-On-Demand Services have transformed Spanish TV Production. *JCMS: Journal of Cinema* and Media Studies, 59(3), 154–160.
- Chosun Media. (2021). Netflix, makes Korean original films...'Carter' and 'Love and Leashes' [넷플릭스, 한국 오리지널 영화 만든다...'카터'와 '모럴센스']. *Chosun*. https://www.chosun.com/entertainments/movie/2021/02/25/JCGMAX5HDNHNPCMUJAXHGH4YE/
- Chung, J., Kim, M. (Executive Producers). (2021). *Move to Heaven* [TV series]. Page One Film; Number Three Pictures.
- CJ ENM. (2022). TVing Decides To Merge With KT Season "Leap As No. 1 Domestic OTT" [티빙, 케이티시즌과 합병 결정 "국내 토종 OTT 1 위 도약"]. *CJ ENM*.

 https://www.cjenm.com/ko/news/티빙-케이티시즌과-합병-결정-국내-토종-ott-1위-도약/
- CJ News. (2021a). [Interview] The reason behind the global success of 'Sweet Home'?

 Studio Dragon Park Eun-kyeong PD. [[인터뷰] '스위트홈'의 글로벌 인기 요인은?

 스튜디오드래곤 박은경 PD]. *CJ News*. https://cjnews.cj.net/인터뷰-스위트홈의글로벌-인기-요인은-스튜디/

- CJ News. (2021b, January 29). [Interview] Original content is the identity of OTT platform! From TVing Content Business Team, Yang Si Kwon. [[인터뷰] 오리지널 콘텐츠는 OTT 플랫폼의 정체성! 티빙 콘텐츠사업팀 양시권 님]. *CJ News*. https://cjnews.cj.net/인터뷰-오리지널-콘텐츠는-ott-플랫폼의-정체성-티빙/
- CJ Newsroom. (2021). ViacomCBS and CJ ENM Announce Global Strategic Partnership. *CJ Newsroom*. https://newsroom.cj.net/viacomcbs-and-cj-enm-announce-global-strategic-partnership/
- CJ Newsroom. (2022a). CJ ENM to Launch CJ ENM STUDIOS to Strengthen Content

 Production. CJ Newsroom. https://newsroom.cj.net/cj-enm-to-launch-cj-enm-studios-to-strengthen-content-production/
- CJ Newsroom. (2022b, September 20). CJ ENM's Endeavor Content Rebrands as Fifth Season. *CJ Newsroom*. https://newsroom.cj.net/cj-enms-endeavor-content-rebrands-as-fifth-season/#:~:text=On%20September%208%2C%20CJ%20ENM's,between%20two%20big%20industry%20names.
- CJ Newsroom. (2022c, October 25). Studio Dragon Signs Exclusive Content Deal with Amazon Prime Video. *CJ Newsroom*. https://newsroom.cj.net/studio-dragon-signs-exclusive-content-deal-with-amazon-prime-video/
- CJ Newsroom. (2022d, November 30). 'CJ ENM Selects' Now Available on the Apple TV.

 CJ Newsroom. https://newsroom.cj.net/cj-enm-selects-now-available-on-the-apple-tv/
- CJ Newsroom. (2022e, December 13). CJ ENM Content Now Available on The Roku Channel. *CJ Newsroom*. https://newsroom.cj.net/cj-enm-content-now-available-on-the-roku-channel/
- Content Wavve. (2022). Wavve enters the global market by acquiring No. 1 K-content platform in the Americas. [웨이브, 미주지역 No.1 K-콘텐츠 플랫폼 인수로 글로벌 진출]. Content Wavve.
 - http://www.contentwavve.com/news/articleView.html?idxno=166
- Esser, A. (2007). "Audiovisual Content in Europe: Transnationalization and Approximation." *Journal of Contemporary European Studies 15* (2). (pp. 163–84).
- Freeman, M. (2016). Media Industries as Modality: Culturalism and the Discursive Context. In *Industrial Approaches to Media: A Methodological Gateway to Industry Studies* (pp. 131-149). Palgrave Macmillan, London. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-55176-4_7

- Han, H. J. (2021). [Interview] Director Yeon Sang-ho "Expected mixed reactions for 'Hellbound', surprised by being worldwide number one". [[인터뷰] 연상호 감독 "호불호 예상 '지옥', 전 세계 1위 어리둥절"]. *Maeil Kyeongje*. https://www.mk.co.kr/star/movies/view/2021/11/1098824/
- Han, H. S. (2017). [SE★Interview] 'Okja' Bong Joon Ho Director I'm the happiest when I hear "Bong Joon Ho Genre". [[SE★인터뷰] '옥자' 봉준호 감독 "'봉준호 장르'라는 말, 가장 행복해"]. Se Daily.

 https://www.sedaily.com/NewsView/1OIBHZYJ99
- Havens, T. (2008). *The evolution of industry lore in African American television trade*. Montreal, QC: International Communication Association.
- Havens, T. (2018). Netflix: Streaming Channel Brands as Global Meaning Systems. In Johnson, D. (Ed.), From Networks to Netflix: A Guide to Changing Channels (1st ed.). (pp. 321-331). Routledge. https://doiorg.eur.idm.oclc.org/10.4324/9781315658643
- Havens, T., Lotz, A. D. (2017). Understanding Media Industries. Oxford University Press.
- Herbert, D., Lotz, A. D., & Punathambekar, A. (2020). *Media Industry Studies* (Ser. Short introductions). Polity.
- Havens, T., Lotz, A. D., & Tinic, S. (2009). Critical media industry studies: a research approach. *Communication, Culture & Critique*, 2(2), 234–253
- Hong, J. S. (2020). Interview with Director Kim Ji-min of Netflix's "Extracurricular"... "intense" subject, I hesitated but decided to ask an uncomfortable question.
 [넷플릭스 '인간수업' 김진민 감독 인터뷰...'센' 소재, 망설였지만 불편한 질문 던지기로 했다]. *The Kyunghyang Shinmun*.
 https://m.khan.co.kr/culture/movie/article/202005112127005
- Hwang, D. (Executive Producer). (2021). Squid Game [TV series]. Screen Siren Pictures.
- Jang, W. J. (2021). [Interview] Director Hwang Dong Hyuk of 'Squid Game' a box office legend. [[Interview] 흥행 신화 '오징어 게임' 황동혁 감독]. *Economy Chosun*. http://economychosun.com/client/news/view.php?boardName=C03&page=1&t_num =13611600
- Jeong, M. K. (2022). When K-Content's cost effectiveness declines, where will Netflix's investments go next [K 콘텐츠 '가성비' 떨어질 때, 넷플릭스 투자는 어디로

- 갈까]. Media Today.
- http://www.mediatoday.co.kr/news/articleView.html?idxno=304699
- Jenner, M. (2018). Netflix and the re-invention of television. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Jensen, K. B. (Ed.). (2002). Data Analysis. In *A Handbook of Media and Communication Research: Qualitative and Quantitative Methodologies* (1st ed.) (pp. 245-253). Routledge, London and New York. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203465103.
- Jin, D. Y. (2016). New Korean Wave: Transnational Cultural Power in the Age of Social Media. University of Illinois Press.
- Jin, D. Y. (2017). Rise of Platform Imperialism in the Networked Korean Society: A Critical Analysis of the Corporate Sphere. *Asiascape: Digital Asia*, 4(3), 209–232. https://doi.org/10.1163/22142312-12340078
- Jo, S. (Director). (2021). Space Sweepers [Film]. Bidangil Pictures; Dexter Studios.
- Ju, H. (2022). Transnational Korean Television: Cultural Storytelling and Digital Audiences (Ser. Transnational communication and critical/cultural studies). Lexington Books.
- Jung, A., Ok, K. (Executive Producers). (2022). Somebody [TV series]. Beyond J.
- Kang, J. M. (2017). Just another platform for television? The emerging web dramas as digital culture in South Korea. *Media, Culture & Society, 39*(5), 762–772. https://doi.org/10.1177/0163443717709442
- Kang, J. M. (2021). Better than television: The rise of Korean web dramas. *International Journal of Cultural Studies*, 24(6), 993–1008. https://doi-org.eur.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/13678779211014532
- Kang, G. H. (2020). A New Narrative Style in the Snackculture Era, a Study on the Structure of the Narrative in Webdrama [스낵컬처(snackculture) 시대의 새로운 이야기 양식, 웹드라마의 서사 구조에 관한 연구]. *The Journal of Drama*, 60, 5-34.
- Kang, M., Koo, S. (Executive Producers). (2022). *Narco-Saints* [TV series]. Perfect Storm Film Inc.; Moonlight Film.
- van Keulen, J., Bauwens, J., & Krijnen, T. (2020). "Everyone Working a Little More Closely Together": The Transnationalization of Creative Production in TV Production Conglomerates. *Television & New Media*, 21(7), 749–767.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1527476419844779

- Kim, B. W. (2020). *Netflix launches separate content office in Korea*. https://www.koreaherald.com/view.php?ud=20201126000893
- Kim, H. C. (2019). Post-Netflix, the Prospects & Strategies of K-dramas. [포스트넷플릭스, 한국드라마의 전망과 전략.], *Broadcasting Culture 416*(80).
- Kim, J. (Executive Producer). (2019) Love Alarm [TV series]. Studio Dragon.
- Kim, K. H. (2016). Fighting Netflix with the 'Netflix Strategy'. ['넷플릭스 전략'으로 넷플릭스에 맞선다]. *Chosun Biz*.
 - http://businessnews.chosun.com/site/data/html_dir/2016/02/17/2016021701132.html
- Kim, N. Y. (2020). Director Lee Kyung-mi's "The School Nurse Files", strange yet beautiful [MK ★ Interview]. [이경미 감독의 '보건교사 안은영', 이상하고도 아름다웠다 [MK★인터뷰]]. *Maeil Business Newspaper*.

 https://www.mk.co.kr/news2/entertain/view/2020/10/1076619/
- Kim, R. S. (2022) Netflix will foster VFX creators with the Korea Radio Promotion Association. [넷플릭스, 한국전파진흥협회와 함께 VFX 창작자 육성한다].

 Interview 365. https://www.interview365.com/news/articleView.html?idxno=103951
- Kim, S. (Director). (2022). The Sound of Magic [TV series]. SLL; Zium Content.
- Kim, S. Y. (2022a). [Interview1] 'Money Heist' Kim Hong-seon Director "I expected mixed reactions". [인터뷰①] '종이의 집' 김홍선 감독 "리메이크작 호불호 예상했다".

 Maeil Kyeongje. https://www.mk.co.kr/star/hot-issues/view/2022/07/604623/
- Kim, S. Y. (2022b). [Interview2] Kim Hong-seon Director "Yoo Ji Tae-Kim Yoon Jin, Kim Ji Hun-Lee Ju Bin bedscene difference...". [인터뷰②] 김홍선 감독 "유지태·김윤진, 김지훈·이주빈 베드신 차이점은...". *Maeil Kyeongje*. https://www.mk.co.kr/star/hot-issues/view/2022/07/604624/
- Kim, Y. (Executive Producer). (2020). Sweet Home [TV series]. Studio Dragon; Studio N.
- Kim, Y. (2022). Historical Drama in the Time of Global Streaming Platforms: Envisioning Transition in Mr. Sunshine. *Television & New Media*, 23(6), 610–628. https://doiorg.eur.idm.oclc.org/10.1177/15274764211010944
- Kim, Y., Yoon, H. (Executive Producers). (2018). Mr. Sunshine [TV series]. Studio Dragon.
- Ko. D. (2022). Netflix subsidiary signs \$100 mil. deal with Seoul for new production studio. *Korea Times*. https://www.koreatimes.co.kr/www/tech/2022/11/419 340258.html

- Ko, J. W. (2019). [Official] JTBC-CJENM, creating a joint OTT Platform. *Chosun*. https://www.chosun.com/site/data/html_dir/2019/09/17/2019091700668.html
- Korea Information Society Development Institute (KISDI). (2018). KISDI Premium Report: The impact of global OTT providers' entering of the domestic market on the media ecology. [글로벌 OTT 사업자의 국내진입에 따른 미디어 생태계 영향] KISDI STAT Report 18–08.
- Korea Information Society Development Institute (KISDI). (2020). Analysis on the import and export of K-dramas. [한국 드라마 수출 추이 분석]. KISDI STAT Report 20-04.
- Kwak, Y. (2022). After investing big in dramas, Netflix targets unscripted shows. *Korea Times*. https://www.koreatimes.co.kr/www/art/2022/12/688_332596.html
- Lee, C. (Director). (2020). The Call [Film]. Yong Film.
- Lee, K. B. (2021). Naver, invests 400 million worth of shares in CJ ENM's TVing... collaboration to strengthen content competitiveness. [네이버, CJ ENM '티빙'에 400 억원 지분투자..."콘텐츠 경쟁력 강화 협력". *Naver*. https://n.news.naver.com/article/421/0005446605.
- Lee, M. A. (2019a). [Economy Chosun] "As I went on with Netflix, the dream of entering Hollywood is right in front of me" [[이코노미조선] "넷플릭스 올라탔더니 할리우드 진출 꿈이 눈 앞"]. *Business Chosun*.

 https://biz.chosun.com/site/data/html_dir/2019/02/15/2019021502487.html
- Lee, M. A. (2019b, July 15). [Interview] Netflix Lee Seong Kyu Physical production manager, Ha Jeong Su Post-production manager. [[Interview] 넷플릭스 이성규 피지컬 프로덕션 매니저, 하정수 포스트 프로덕션 매니저]. *Economy Chosun*. http://economychosun.com/client/news/view.php?boardName=C00&t_num=1360736
- Lee, M. A. (2019c, July 15). [Interview] Kim Min-young Vice-president director of Netflix Korea content. [[Interview] 김민영 넷플릭스 한국 콘텐츠 총괄 디렉터]. *Economy Chosun*.

 http://economychosun.com/client/news/view.php?boardName=C00&t_num=1360736
- Lee, J. (2020). the Director from 'Sweet Home' interview ①— not relying on star quality, taking out dependency on love. ['스위트홈' 연출한 이응복 감독 인터뷰① -

스타성에 기대지 않고, 사랑의 의존도를 빼고]. *Cine21*. http://www.cine21.com/news/view/?mag_id=96798

Lee, J. H. (2017). <Okja> Editing director Yang Jin-mo – Rhythm and timing. [<옥자> 양진모 편집감독 - 리듬과 타이밍]. *Cine21*. http://www.cine21.com/news/view/?mag_id=87697

Lee, J. H. (2021). Netflix "Investing 770 billion won in Korea for 5 years, economic ripple effect of 5.6 trillion won". [넷플릭스 "한국에 5 년간 7 천 700 억 투자, 5 조 6 천억 경제파급효과"]. Yonhap News.

https://www.yna.co.kr/view/AKR20210929062300005

- Lee, S. (Executive Producer). (2019). Kingdom [TV series]. A-Story.
- Lee, T. H. (2022). Paramount joined hands with TVing "going to Asia by bridging Korea". [티빙 손잡은 파라마운트 "한국 교두보로 아시아 간다"]. *Chosun*. https://www.chosun.com/culture-life/culture_general/2022/06/16/FR664YKZZVA5NKJJ6HAECEFXWA/
- Li, Q., Wilson, D., & Guan, Y. (Eds.). (2023). *The Global Film Market Transformation in the Post-Pandemic Era: Production, Distribution And Consumption* (Ser. China perspectives). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003345251
- Lobato, R. (2019). *Netflix nations: the geography of digital distribution*. New York University Press.
- Lobato, R., & Lotz, A. D. (2020). Imagining Global Video: The Challenge of Netflix. *JCMS: Journal of Cinema and Media Studies*, 59(3), 132–136.
- Lotz, A. (2014). 1. Building Theories of Creative Industry Managers: Challenges,
 Perspectives, and Future Directions. In D. Johnson, D. Kompare & A. Santo
 (Ed.), *Making Media Work: Cultures of Management in the Entertainment Industries* (pp. 25-38). New York, USA: New York University
 Press. https://doi.org/10.18574/nyu/9780814764695.003.0002
- Lotz, A. D. (2017). *Portals: a Treatise on Internet-Distributed Television*. Maize Books, an imprint of Michigan Publishing.
- Lotz, A. D. (2019). Teasing apart television industry disruption: consequences of meso-level financing practices before and after the US multiplatform era. *Media, Culture & Society, 41*(7), 923–938. https://doi.org/10.1177/0163443719863354

- Lotz, A. D. (2021). In between the global and the local: mapping the geographies of Netflix as a multinational service. *International Journal of Cultural Studies*, 24(2), 195–215. https://doi.org/10.1177/1367877920953166
- Mackenzie, J. (2023, February 23). Physical 100: Are K-reality shows the next Korean cultural trend?. *BBC*. https://www.bbc.com/news/64741961
- Mikos, L. (2019). Transnational Television Culture. In Shimpach, S., *The Routledge Companion to Global Television Routledge*. (pp. 74-83). Routledge.
- Moon, J. Y. (2019). [SC Focus] "Let's stop foreign OTT".. 3 terrestrial broadcasters

 →JTBC·CJ ENM, will compete side by side [[SC 초점] "외국산 OTT

 막자"..지상파 3 사→JTBC·CJ ENM, 나란히 플랫폼 출사표]. *Chosun*.

 https://www.chosun.com/site/data/html_dir/2019/09/17/2019091700872.html
- Moon J. Y. (2022). [Interview2] 'The Sound of Magic' Kim Seong-yoon Director "I was afraid of a challenge... 'it was all or nothing'" [인터뷰②] '안나라수마나라' 김성윤 감독 "도전 두려웠다..'도 아아니면 빽도'"]. *Chosun*.

 https://www.chosun.com/entertainments/entertain_photo/2022/05/10/SASSDOQCE3
 https://www.chosun.com/entertainments/entertain_photo/2022/05/10/SASSDOQCE3
- Na, W. J. (2022, March 20). To find the second Squid Game Disney + "Big investment in K-drama" [제 2 오겜 찾기 나선 디즈니+ "K 드라마에 큰 투자"]. *JoongAng Ilbo*. https://www.joongang.co.kr/article/25056785#home
- Nafees, L., Guptā R., Banerjee, S., Kalia, S., Mehdi, M. M. (2019). *Netflix in India: too good a market to give up!* (Ser. Sage business cases). Neilson Journals Publishing.
- Nam, (2021). Netflix's general manager Kim Min-young said, "Korean content will grow and become a global genre". [넷플릭스 김민영 총괄 "한국 콘텐츠 저력 커져… 글로벌 장르 될 것"]. *Donga Ilbo*.
 - https://www.donga.com/news/It/article/all/20210225/105617172/1
- Netflix. (2016). Netflix Is Now Available Around the World. *Netflix*. https://about.netflix.com/en/news/netflix-is-now-available-around-the-world
- Netflix. (2017). Love Alarm Set to Become Netflix First Korean Original Series. *Netflix*. https://about.netflix.com/en/news/love-alarm-set-to-become-netflix-first-korean-original-series
- Netflix. (2018). NETFLIX TO BRING ROMANCE SERIES LOVE ALARM. *Netflix*. https://about.netflix.com/en/news/netflix-to-bring-romcom-series-love-alarm

- Netflix. (2019a). CJ ENM/STUDIO DRAGON-NETFLIX ANNOUNCE A LONG-TERM PARTNERSHIP. *Netflix*. https://about.netflix.com/en/news/cj-enm-studio-dragon-netflix-announce-a-long-term-partnership
- Netflix. (2019b, November 26). JTBC-NETFLIX INK MULTI-YEAR DEAL FOR HIGH-QUALITY KOREAN TV SERIES. *Netflix*. https://about.netflix.com/en/news/jtbc-netflix-ink-multi-year-deal-for-high-quality-korean-tv-series
- Netflix. (2020). Netflix Brings a Variety of Entertainment With 7 New Korean Films and Series. *Netflix*. https://about.netflix.com/en/news/netflix-brings-a-variety-of-entertainment-with-7-new-korean-films-and-series
- Netflix. (2021a). Expanding Our Presence in Korea: Netflix Welcomes the New Year with Two New Production Facilities. *Netflix*. https://about.netflix.com/en/news/expanding-our-presence-in-korea-netflix-production-facilities.
- Netflix. (2021b, July 6). Netflix Announces Post-Production Partnership with Dexter Studio and Livetone for Creating Best-in-Class Korean Content. *Netflix*. https://about.netflix.com/en/news/netflix-announces-post-production-partnership
- Netflix. (2021c, July 6). Netflix, Dexter Studio | Announcement long term partnership with subsidiary Livetone to strengthen post-production cooperation. [넷플릭스, 덱스터스튜디오 | 자회사 라이브톤과 후반작업 협력 강화 위한 장기 파트너십 발표]. Netflix. https://about.netflix.com/en/news/netflix-announces-post-production-partnership
- Netflix. (2021d, September 29). Netflix Korea, the story so far. *Netflix*. https://about.netflix.com/en/news/netflix-korea-the-story-so-far
- Netflix. (2022a). Secret to Netflix content with a different 'class' 'post-production'. ['클래스'가 다른 넷플릭스 콘텐츠의 비밀 '포스트 프로덕션']. Netflix. https://about.netflix.com/ko/news/postsupervisorvideo
- Netflix. (2022b, August 2). Creators' imagination becomes reality with 'visual production' ['버추얼 프로덕션'과 함께 창작자의 상상은 현실이 된다]. Netflix. https://about.netflix.com/ko/news/vpopenhouse
- Newcomb, H., Lotz, A. D. (2012). The production of media fiction. In Jensen, K. B. (Ed), *The handbook of media and communication research: qualitative and quantitative methodologies* (2nd ed.) (pp. 62-77). Routledge.
- Oh, Y. (2015). "The Interactive Nature of Korean TV Dramas: Flexible Texts, Discursive Consumption, and Social Media." In *Hallyu 2.0: Korean Wave in the Age of Social*

- *Media*, edited by Sangjoon Lee and Abé Mark Nornes, (p. 133–153). Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Park, E. A. (2017). Why the networks can't beat Netflix: speculations on the US OTT Services Market. *Digital Policy, Regulation and Governance*, 19(1), 21–39. https://doi.org/10.1108/dprg-08-2016-0041
- Park, H. (Director). (2022). Love and Leashes [Film]. Seed Film
- Park, J. H. (2019). [Interview] Writer Kim Eun-hee "For Kingdom, Netflix was an attractive platform." [[인터뷰] 김은희 작가 "킹덤은 넷플릭스가 매력적인 플랫폼이었다"]. *KBS*. https://kstar.kbs.co.kr/list_view.html?idx=29157
- Park, J. S. (2021). [Interview] "My Name" director "Han So-hee, Netflix's 'favorite'..."Cliché's bad press is what I expected." [[인터뷰] '마이네임' 감독 "한소희, 넷플릭스 '원픽'...클리셰 혹평은 예상했던 것"] *JTBC*. https://news.jtbc.co.kr/article/article.aspx?news_id=NB12027354
- Perren, A. (2015). The Trick of the Trades. In Banks, M. J., Conor, B., & Mayer, V. (Eds.), Production studies, the sequel!: cultural studies of global media industries (pp. 227-237). Routledge.
- Pina, A. (Executive Producer). (2022). *Money Heist: Korea Joint Economic Area* [TV series]. BH Entertainment; Zium Content.
- Rios, S., & Scarlata, A. (2018). Locating SVOD in Australia and Mexico: Stan and Blim contend with Netflix. *Critical Studies in Television*, 13(4), 475–490. https://doi.org/10.1177/1749602018798158.
- Schulze, M. (2013). Korea vs. k-dramaland: the culturalization of k-dramas by international fans. *Acta Koreana*, *16*(2), 367–397.
- Seo, J. Y. (2022). Kang Ho-sung CJ ENM "The goal is to secure good content..."Expand production capabilities" [강호성 CJ ENM "좋은 콘텐츠 확보가 목표...제작 역량 확대할 것"]. *ZDNET Korea*. https://zdnet.co.kr/view/?no=20220908161042
- Shim, M. K. (2022) [Interview] Kang Dong-han, Vice President of Netflix Korea Contents "Already invested 1 trillion won in K-contents...25 Korean works will be on Netflix this year." [[Interview] 강동한 넷플릭스 코리아 콘텐츠 총괄 부사장"K 콘텐츠에 이미 1 조원 투자…올해 한국 작품 25 편 넷플릭스 탄다"]. *Economy Chosun*. http://economychosun.com/client/news/view.php?boardName=C00&t_num=1361215

- Shim, S. (2008). Behind the Korean Broadcasting Boom. *NHK Broadcasting Studies* 6: 205–232.
- Shimpach, S. (Ed.). (2020). *The Routledge Companion to Global Television*. Routledge, New York.
- Smith, A.N. (2018). *Storytelling Industries: Narrative Production in the 21st Century*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Song, S. (2020a). The Evolution of the Korean Wave: How Is the Third Generation Different from Previous Ones? *Korea Observer*, 51(1), 125–150. https://doi.org/10.29152/KOIKS.2020.51.1.125
- Song, S. (2020b). "The Call" director reaches out to global audiences with Netflix debut. The *Korea Herald*. https://www.koreaherald.com/view.php?ud=20201202000892
- Song, S. (2021). Disney+ to expand partnership with Korean content creators. *The Korea Herald*. https://www.koreaherald.com/view.php?ud=20211014000877
- Szscepanik, P. (2007). Transnational Crews and Postsocialist Precarity: Globalizing Screen Media Labor in Prague. In Curtin, M., & Sanson, K. (Ed.). (2016). *Precarious creativity: global media, local labor*. (pp. 88–103). University of California Press: Berkeley. https://doi.org/10.1515/9780520964808-009
- Tryon, C. (2015). TV got better: Netflix's original programming strategies and the on-demand television transition. *Media Industries Journal*, 2(2).
- Tse, Y. (2020). Black Ships? Locating Netflix in Taiwan and Japan. *JCMS: Journal of Cinema and Media Studies*, 59(3): 143–48.
- Wayne, M. L. (2020). Global Portals in National Markets: Branding Netflix in Israel. *JCMS: Journal of Cinema and Media Studies*, 59(3), 149.
- Wayne, M. L., & Castro, D. (2021). SVOD Global Expansion in Cross-national Comparative Perspective: Netflix in Israel and Spain. *Television & New Media*, 22(8), 896–913. https://doi.org/10.1177/1527476420926496
- Yoo, J. (Executive Producer). (2021). My Name [TV series]. Studio Santa Claus Entertainment.
- Yoo, J. H. (2022). Netflix 'Glitch' Yoon Shin-ae, CEO of the production company "Chasing alien drama... Challenge is my destiny [넷플릭스 '글리치'제작사 대표 윤신애 "외계인 추적극...도전은 내 운명" [인터뷰]]. *Donga Ilbo*.
 - https://sports.donga.com/news/article/all/20221003/115774053/3

- Yoon, H. J. (2021a). [N Interview] ② 'Move to Heaven' writer "Lee Je-hoon's tearful acting made me cry". [[N 인터뷰]② '무브투헤븐' 작가 " It's hard to make a drama...It was possible because it was Netflix "]. *News1 Korea*.

 https://www.news1.kr/articles/?4312350
- Yoon, H. J. (2021b, May 21). [N Interview] ① 'Move to Heaven' director "Lee Je-hoon's tearful acting made me cry". [[N 인터뷰]① '무브투헤븐' 감독 "이제훈 눈물연기에 나까지 울컥"]. News1 Korea. https://www.news1.kr/articles/?4313589
- Yoon, H. J. (2021c, December 2). "K-content·High standards of viewers...TVing, preparing to enter the global market" [N Interview]② ["K 콘텐츠·시청자 수준 높아...티빙, 글로벌 진출도 준비" [N 인터뷰]②]. News1 Korea.

https://www.news1.kr/articles/?4509068

- Yoon, S. (Director). (2020). Time to Hunt [Film]. Sidus Pictures.
- Yoon, S. (Executive Producer). (2020). Extracurricular [TV series]. Studio 329.
- Yoon, S. (Executive Producer). (2022). Glitch [TV series]. Studio 329